
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSOURI
AT INDEPENDENCE

SAMUEL K. LIPARI,

vs.

)
)

Plaintiff, )
)
)
)
)
)

Defendants. )

Case No. 0816-CV04217
Division 2

NOVATION, LLC, et al.

DEFENDANT SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY'S
SUGGESTIONS IN SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION TO DISMISS

Defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.e. ("STK") files these Suggestions in Support

of its Motion to Dismiss. In support of its Motion, defendant states as follows:

I. INTRODUCTION

This is the sixth lawsuit instituted by Mr. Lipari or his dissolved company regarding his

failure to enter the hospital supplies market. While plaintiff sets forth his version of the tortuous

history of this litigation in Appendix One to his Petition, I additional history was set forth by

Judge Murguia in Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, Inc., 419 F. Supp.2d 1316 (D. Kan.

2006), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A.

All but two of the prior cases involving Lipari and his former company Medical Supply

Chain, Inc. have been dismissed, sometimes with added sanctions. !d.; see also 112 Fed. Appx.

730 (LOth Cir. 2004), attached as Exhibit B. This action likewise lacks merit.

Significantly, it is apparent that STK is a defendant in this matter solely because it has

represented U.S. Bank and U.S. Bancorp in the multiple suits filed by Lipari or his company

I The defendant does not admit any of the plaintiffs contentions in Appendix One but
simply refers the Court to this document for additional background on the repeated litigation
over this issue without adding additional length to these Suggestions.
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since October 2002.2 The basis for plaintiffs claim is his inability to secure escrow services

from U.S. Bank and a failed real estate transaction with General Electric. There is no allegation

- nor can there be - that STK had any involvement in either of these transactions which form the

basis of plaintiff s alleged damages.

Lipari's Petition is also just as indecipherable and incoherent as the previous lawsuits.

He makes wild accusations involving individuals such as Karl Rove, Kansas Representative

Nancy Boyda (and her husband) and implicitly accuses defendants of some involvement in the

firing of U.S. Attorney Todd Graves as well as the deaths of two assistant U.S. Attorneys in

Texas. Despite pleading approximately 93 pages of "facts" in nearly 600 separate paragraphs

prior to setting forth the causes of action, Lipari fails to allege any facts in his causes of action.

His Petition suffers from fatal pleading defects; violates Rule 55.05 which requires a short, plain

statement of facts;' and several of his causes of action are barred by the statute of limitations

and/or are not legally actionable. Therefore, his Petition should be dismissed with prejudice.

II. ARGUMENT

A. As the alleged assignee of interests from Medical Supply Chain, Lipari may
only acquire those rights held by Medical Supply.

Mr. Lipari brings this suit in his personal capacity as the alleged "Assignee of Dissolved

Medical Supply Chain, Inc." STK strongly disputes that Mr. Lipari is a proper assignee to

2 Though perhaps included more for effect and aspersion, Lipari also alleges that STK
somehow deprived him of counsel during the previously dismissed federal lawsuits when his
then-attorney was disbarred, see In re Landrith, 124 P.3d 467 (Kan. 2005), attached as Exhibit
C, or somehow prevented other attorneys from taking his case. Because these suppositions do
not form the basis of any cognizable cause of action, STK will resist the temptation of a further
response except to say the allegations are wholly conjectural.

3 In Medical Supply v. Neoforma, LLC, 419 F. Supp.2d l316, 1331 (D. Kan. 2006) Judge
Carlos Murguia found, "Plaintiff's 115 page, 613 paragraph complaint falls miles from Rule 8's
boundaries." Although Missouri is a fact pleading state, Rule 55.05 also requires a "short and
plain statement of facts showing that the pleader is entitled to relief." Lipari's current Petition
again "falls miles" from this boundary.
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maintain this action. But regardless, under Missouri law "[A]n assignee acquires no greater

rights than the assignor had at the time of the assignment." Citibank (South Dakota), NA. v.

Mincks, 135 S.W.3d 545, 556-557 (Mo. App. S.D. 2004) (quoting Carlund Corp. v. Crown

Center Redevelopment, 849 S.W.2d 647, 650 (Mo. App. 1993)); see also Centennial State Bank

v. s.E.K. Constr. Co., Inc., 518 S.W.2d 143, 147 (Mo. App. 1974). Mr. Lipari must stand in

Medical Supply's shoes and can occupy no better position than Medical Supply would have if it

sued STK directly. Id. Thus, "common law principles compel the conclusion that any defense

valid against [Medical Supply] is valid against its assignee, [Samuel Lipari]." Id.

B. Count I-Violation of Section 416.031.1 R.S.Mo. (p. 93)

As stated, the allegations in plaintiff's Petition are confusing and incomprehensible.

Nonetheless, Count I of plaintiffs Petition must be dismissed for the following reasons:

a. Plaintiff's claim for violation of R.S.Mo. § 416.031.1 is barred by
the statute of limitations;

b. Plaintiff's claim is barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel;
and

c. Plaintiff's allegations fail to state a claim upon which relief can be
granted.

1. Under Missouri law, all claims brought pursuant to R.S.Mo.
§ 416.031.1 must be brought within four years after the cause of action
accrues. In October 2002, Medical Supply Chain had actual
knowledge of its alleged damages when it filed suit asserting claims
under this same statute. Because Lipari's current suit was not filed
until February 2008, his claim is barred by the statue of limitations.

A defendant may seek to dismiss a petition when it is clear from the face of the petition

that the action is time barred. Heintz v. SWimmer, 922 S.W.2d 772, 775 (Mo. App. E.D. 1996).

Missouri law requires all actions under the Missouri Antitrust Act to be commenced "within four

years after the cause of action accrued." R.S.Mo. § 416.131(2). A cause of action accrues when
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the wrong is sustained and the plaintiff is capable to ascertain damages. See, e.g., Gaydos v.

Imhoff, 245 S.W.3d 303, 306 (Mo. App. W.D. 2008).

Lipari's cause of action is predicated on the defendants' alleged conspiracy to keep his

former company out of the hospital supplies market. But as his Petition notes, Medical Supply

brought an identical lawsuit in October 2002, asserting damages for the same alleged antitrust

violations he asserts here. See Petition, Appendix One, p. 1, ~~ 1-5. Plaintiff therefore concedes

that Medical Supply Chain's alleged cause of action accrued no later than October 2002 when it

filed its first suit for antitrust damages. See Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Us. Ban corp, et aI.,

2003 WL 21479192 (D. Kan. June 16, 2003) (attached as Exhibit D), aff'd 112 Fed. Appx. 730

(10th Cir. 2004). Lipari did not file this action until February 2008-well after the four-year

statute. His cause of action in Count I is therefore barred by the statute of limitations.

Lipari nevertheless attempts to salvage his claim under the savings statute of R.S.Mo.

§ 516.230 by alleging that he re-filed this action within one year of dismissal in Medical Supply

Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, Inc., 419 F. Supp.2d 1316 (D. Kan. 2006), appeal dismissed 508 F.3d

572 (10th Cir. 2007) (attached as Exhibit E). He is wrong. That action was dismissed on

March 7, 2006 and the one-year period found in RS.Mo. § 516.230 does not resurrect his claims.

In any event, the savings statute is inapplicable to causes of action that are created by statute and

which contain their own statutes of limitation. Boggs v. Farmers State Bank, 846 S.W.2d 233

(Mo. App. S.D. 1993).

The face of Lipari's Petition shows that Medical Supply (and Lipari) had actual

knowledge that the alleged cause of action accrued at least by October 2002. This action was not

filed until February 2008 and, thus, the cause of action for violation of RS.Mo. § 416.031.1 is

time barred.
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2. Under Missouri law, state antitrust statutes are to be construed in
accordance with comparable federal statutes. Plaintiff's federal
antitrust claims have been previously dismissed on their merits and
his state anti-trust claims are therefore barred under the doctrine of
collateral estoppel.

In March 2005, Medical Supply Chain, Inc. filed a third lawsuit for its failure to enter the

hospital supplies market. In Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, Inc., Medical Supply

alleged 16 causes of action, including antitrust claims for restraint of trade and monopoly under

both federal and Missouri law. See Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, Inc., 419

F. Supp.2d 1316, 1320 (D. Kan. 2006) (Exhibit A). STK was also a defendant in that action and

-like here - filed a motion to dismiss Medical Supply's claims.

On March 7, 2006, Judge Carlos Murguia dismissed plaintiffs federal antitrust claims

under the Sherman Act for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. Id. Judge

Murguia declined to exercise jurisdiction over the pendant state claims and dismissed them

without prejudice. Nonetheless, his determination of plaintiffs federal antitrust claims on the

merits bars Lipari's current state antitrust claims under the doctrine of collateral estoppel/issue

preclusion.

Courts apply a four-part test to determine whether an issue is barred by collateral

estoppel: (1) whether the issue decided in the prior adjudication was identical to the issue

presented in the present action; (2) whether the prior adjudication resulted in a judgment on the

merits; (3) whether the party against whom estoppel is asserted was a party or was in privity with

a party to the prior adjudication; and (4) whether the party against whom collateral estoppel is

asserted had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the prior suit. James v. Paul, 49

S.W.3d 678,682-683 (Mo. 2001).

While Lipari, individually, was not a party in the Neoforma suit, he is clearly in privity

with Medical Supply as the self-proclaimed assignee of Medical Supply's assets. Medical
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Supply had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the Neoforma matter and Judge Murguia's

dismissal of Medical Supply's federal antitrust claims was a dismissal on the merits. Bachman v.

Bachman, 997 S.W.2d 23,25 (Mo. App. 1999)(collateral estoppel applies to dismissal for failure

to state a claim.). Therefore, the only factor to determine is whether the determined issues in

Neoforma are identical to those included in the claims Lipari asserts in this suit.

Missouri antitrust law specifically provides that its provisions "shall be construed in

harmony with ruling judicial interpretations of comparable federal statutes." RS.Mo. § 416.141.

Missouri courts have consistently looked to federal courts' interpretation of the Sherman Act

when construing the provisions of RS.Mo. § 416.031. See, e.g., Marc's Restaurant, Inc. v. CBS,

Inc., 730 S.W.2d 582, 586 (Mo. App. E.D. 1987); Fischer, Spuhl, Herzwurm & Associates, Inc.

v. Forrest T Jones & Co., 586 S.W.2d 310, 313 (Mo. 1979) (recognizing that § 416.141

"intended to provide a ready body of precedent for interpreting the law and a single standard of

business conduct already known and acquiesced in by businesses in Missouri").

Therefore, federal decisions are very persuasive when determining the adequacy of

Lipari's state antitrust claims and, on three separate occasions, a federal court has found Lipari's

federal antitrust claims-based on the same set of operative facts as this suit-to be groundless.

Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, NA, 2003 WL 21479192, *3 (D. Kan. 2003)

("[P]laintiff has failed to allege a contract, combination, or conspiracy among two or more

independent actors, and thus has not stated a claim under § 1 [of the Sherman Act].")

(Exhibit D); Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. General Elec. Co., 2004 WL 956100, *3 (D. Kan.

2004) ("[A]t the most fundamental level, plaintiffs antitrust claims fail.") (Exhibit F); Medical

Supply Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, Inc., 419 F. Supp.2d 1316, 1327 (D. Kan. 2006), appeal
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dismissed 508 F.3d 572 (10th Cir. 2007) ("Although plaintiff asserts many conspiracy theories, it

does not allege any facts that support its allegations.") (Exhibit A).

In Gregory Marketing Corp. v. Wakefern Food Corp., 207 N.J.Super. 607, 504 A.2d 828

(N.J. Super. Ct. 1985), the New Jersey Superior Court squarely decided this same issue and held

that collateral estoppel barred the state law antitrust claims following a federal dismissal. In that

matter, the plaintiff brought suit in federal court alleging antitrust violations by the defendants.

The federal court dismissed the federal claims on the basis that the plaintiff lacked standing and

had not suffered antitrust injury. The plaintiff later re-filed his action in state court, asserting

state antitrust violations based on the same facts as his earlier federal action.

Like Missouri, New Jersey has enacted as statute requiring that its state antitrust laws be

interpreted in accordance with their federal counterparts. Therefore, the defendants moved for

dismissal of the state antitrust claims asserting they were barred by the doctrines of res judicata

and collateral estoppel. Relying upon New Jersey's antitrust statute counseling conformity with

federal decisions, the court agreed and stated:

If that legislative mandate of "harmony," "uniformity" and consistency between
the state and federal antitrust statutes is to have any meaning at all, plaintiffs are
barred from relitigating here the issues of antitrust standing and injury.

!d., at 623-6244.

Although Lipari purports to bring this suit under Missouri's antitrust laws, it is the same

claim which has been dismissed in three prior federal suits. Because Lipari's state antitrust

action presents the same claim as his previous federal suits and RS.Mo. § 416.141 counsels this

4 In Watkins v. Resorts International Hotel and Casino, Inc., 124 N.J. 398, 422 A.2d 592
(N.J. 1991) the New Jersey Supreme Court rejected Wakefern to the extent its holding was based
upon the incorrect conclusion that dismissal for lack of standing in an earlier suit is not a
dismissal on the merits for purposes of res judicata and collateral estoppel. Id. at 604. In
contrast, here, the federal court decisions dismissing the federal antitrust claims were merits
dismissals.
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Court to rule in conformity with interpretations of the similar federal statutes, he may not attempt

to re-litigate those issues in this court. Therefore, Count I is barred by the doctrine of collateral

estoppel.

3. Missouri law requires that petitions contain sufficient facts for each
element to show an entitlement to relief. Lipari has failed to allege
any facts to show defendants entered into a contract or agreement
between two independent actors. Because this is an essential element
of his antitrust claim under § 416.031, his claims under Count I must
be dismissed.

Rule 55.05 of the Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure requires that plaintiffs Petition

"contain a short and plain statement of the facts showing the pleader is entitled to relief." Brock

v. Blackwood, 143 S.W.3d 47, 56 (Mo. App. W.D. 2004). A party that fails to plead sufficient

facts showing entitlement to relief deprives the trial court of jurisdiction in the matter. !d. The

plaintiff cannot rely on mere conclusions, and courts will disregard conclusions not supported by

facts in determining whether or not a petition states a cause of action. See id. (citing Lick Creek

Sewer Sys. v. Bank of Bourbon , 747 S.W.2d 317,322 (Mo. App. 1988).

Lipari must plead three elements to state a claim under § 416.031.1: (1) a contract,

combination, or conspiracy among two or more independent actors; (2) that unreasonably

restrains trade; and (3) is in, or substantially affects, interstate commerce. See Medical Supply

Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, Inc., 419 F. Supp.2d 1316, 1327 (D. Kan. 2006) (citing similar

15 U.S.e. § 1).

Like the previous unsuccessful antitrust claims, Lipari has failed to sufficiently plead a

contract, combination, or conspiracy among two actors. In Count I of his Petition, Lipari makes

the following allegations against STK:

• STK "agreed with Novation, LLC to injure the petitioner";

• STK is a separately incorporated entity from the remaining corporate defendants;

8
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• STK represented clients with conflicting interests against the petitioner;

• STK represented its own organizational interests instead of the interests of its
clients;

• STK "injured the petitioner instead of counseling US Bancorp, Inc. to settle with
the petitioner paying US Bank [sic]" by not accepting a February 2008 settlement
offer "that was neutral and without financial loss for US Bancorp."

• STK elected not to perform professional services for or bill its clients in the
hospital supply cartel for legally defending petitioner's antitrust claims and never
deposed witnesses or the petitioner.

• STK acted outside the authorization of its clients, outside the scope of lawful
conduct, risked the reputational interests, insurability and licensibility [sic]
"without proportional compensation solely to acquire narrow and hidden political
power in the administration of the state of Missouri and within the Kansas District
Court."

Petition, pp. 94,96-97.

Just as Judge Murguia found in Neoforma, "Although plaintiff asserts many conspiracy

theories, it does not allege any facts that support its allegations." Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v.

Neoforma, Inc., 419 F. Supp.2d. at 1327. The only allegation that even remotely resembles a

contract, combination or conspiracy is his conclusion that STK "agreed with Novation, LLC to

injure petitioner." But simply citing the elements of an antitrust claim and alleging a violation of

them is not sufficient. See Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, Inc., 419 F. Supp.2d at

1327; TV Comm. Network, Inc. v. Turner Network Television, Inc., 964 F.2d 1022, 1027 (lOth

Cir. 1992) ("Although the modern pleading requirements are quite liberal, a plaintiff must do

more than cite relevant antitrust language to state a claim for relief."); Estate Constr. Co. v.

Miller & Smith Holding Co., 14 F.3d 213, 221 (4th Cir. 1994) ("[I]n order to adequately allege

an antitrust conspiracy, the pleader must 'provide, whenever possible, some details of the time,

place and alleged effect of the conspiracy; it is not enough merely to state that a conspiracy has

taken place.'''); Nelson Radio & Supply Co. v. Motorola, Inc., 200 F.2d 911, 913-914 (5th Cir.
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1952) ("[A] general allegation of conspiracy, without a statement of the facts constituting the

conspiracy to restrain trade, its object and accomplishment, is but an allegation of a legal

conclusion, which is insufficient to constitute a cause of action."); see also Bell Atlantic Corp. v.

Twombly, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1965 (2007) (holding that an antitrust complaint must contain enough

facts that, when taken as true, show a plausible right to recovery).

In the above cases, allegations like Lipari's were found inadequate under federal rule

liberal "notice" pleading standards. If Lipari's allegations fail under the more relaxed standards

of notice pleading, they certainly fail under the more stringent "fact pleading" requirements of

the Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure. See Brock v. Blackwood, 143 S.W.3d 47,56 (Mo. App.

W.D. 2004) ("Although the petition does not have to plead evidentiary or operative facts

showing an entitlement to the relief sought, it must plead ultimate facts demonstrating such an

entitlement and cannot rely on mere conclusions.").

The remaining allegations cannot form the basis for an antitrust cause of action.

Essentially, Lipari is arguing that actions taken by STK in defending multiple lawsuits filed by

him or his company have caused him damage or have damaged STK's clients. First, Lipari lacks

standing to assert that STK's actions have damaged its clients. Next, it is beyond all rational

thought even to consider that Lipari could maintain a cause of action for STK's defense of a

lawsuit (1) that is by definition an adversarial proceeding; (2) that was initiated by Lipari; and

(3) where courts have found the prior actions frivolous. Moreover, there is no allegation that

STK's actions are even remotely related to the sale of hospital supplies or that STK has any

relation to the hospital supplies industry.

Thus, even if the Court concludes that Lipari's state antitrust allegations are not barred by

collateral estoppel, his claims still fail. Lipari's Petition fails to state adequate facts on an
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essential element of his claim. Therefore, Count I of his Petition should be dismissed, pursuant

to Rule 55.27(a)(6) of the Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure.

c. Count II-Violation ofR.S.Mo. §416.031.2 (p, 98)

In Count II of his Petition, Lipari asserts a cause of action for violation of R.S.Mo.

§ 416.031.2, alleging "the defendants have a monopoly or have attempted to monopolize the

subject relevant markets." Petition, p. 98. Lipari's claim in Count II also fails because:

a. His state antitrust claim under § 416.031.2 is barred by the statute
of limitations;

b. His state antitrust claim under § 416.031.2 is barred by the doctrine
of collateral estoppel; and

c. He fails to plead sufficient facts to establish a claim upon which
relief may be granted in that:

1. The allegations are mere conclusions; and

11. He fails to define a relevant market.

For these reasons, Count II of plaintiffs Petitions should be dismissed with prejudice.

1. Missouri law requires all claims under R.S.Mo. §416.131(2) to be
commenced within four years after the cause of action accrues.
Medical Supply Chain had actual knowledge of its alleged damages in
October 2002 and brought suit under this same statute for these
alleged damages. Because Lipari did not file this suit until February
2008, his claim in Count II is barred by the statute of limitations.

All claims under Missouri's antitrust statutes must be commenced "within four years

after the cause of action accrued." RS.Mo. § 416.131(2). As noted in Section 2(a) above, Lipari

had actual knowledge of the alleged cause of action under the Missouri antitrust laws at least in

October 2002, when Medical Supply Chain filed suit for alleged antitrust violations. The facts

and analysis in 2(a) above concerning the application of the statute of limitations to Lipari's

claims for Count I also apply to Count II of plaintiff s Petition. Rather than restating these
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arguments, STK incorporates by reference its arguments and analysis made in Section 2(a)

above.

For the reasons set forth in Section 2(a) above, plaintiffs claim in Count II of his Petition

is barred by the statute of limitations and should be dismissed with prejudice.

2. Missouri antitrust statutes must be construed in accordance with
comparable federal statutes. Plaintiff's federal antitrust claims based
on the same cause of action have been previously dismissed on their
merits. Therefore, the corresponding state antitrust claims are barred
by collateral estoppel.

As noted in Section 2(b) above, Missouri law specifically provides that its antitrust

statutes "shall be construed in harmony with judicial interpretations of comparable federal

statutes." R.S.Mo. § 416.141. Missouri courts look to federal courts' interpretations of the

Sherman Act when construing the provisions of RS.Mo. § 416.031. See, e.g., Marc's

Restaurant, Inc. v. CBS, Inc., 730 S.W.2d 582, 586 (Mo. App. E.D. 1987); Fischer, Spehuel,

Herzwurm & Assoc., Inc. v. Forrest T Jones and Co., 586 S.W.2d 310, 313 (Mo. 1979). In

order to maintain a cause of action pursuant to RS.Mo. § 416.031.2, the plaintiff must

demonstrate (1) the possession of monopoly power in the relevant market and (2) the willful

acquisition of maintenance of that power as distinguished from growth or development as a

consequence of a superior product, business acumen or historic accident. See, e.g., Medical

Supply Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, Inc., 419 F. Supp.2d 1316, 1328 (D. Kan. 2006) (referring to

similar elements in 15 U.S.C. § 2).

On three separate occasions the United States District Court for the District of Kansas has

found that allegations of a monopoly to control the hospital supply market is an insufficient

description of a relevant market. See Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Us. Bancorp, NA., et al.,

2003 WL 21479192, at *3 (D. Kan. 2003) (Exhibit D); Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. General

Electric Co., et aI., 2004 WL 956100, at *3 (D. Kan. 2004) (Exhibit F), aff'd. in part, revd in
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part, 144 Fed. Appx. 708, 716 (10th Cir. 2005) (Exhibit G); Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v.

Neoforma, Inc., 419 F. Supp.2d 1316, 1328 (D. Kan. 2006) (Exhibit A). In each of these cases,

Medical Supply Chain alleged federal antitrust actions for violation of Section 2 of the Sherman

Act. Medical Supply had a full opportunity to litigate these issues and all of the decisions found

the allegations insufficient and were decisions based on the merits presented. As the alleged

assignee of Medical Supply Chain, Inc.' s cause of action, Lipari is a party in privity with

Medical Supply Chain. For these reasons, and for the reasons set forth in Section 2(b) above,

plaintiffs claims are barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel, and Count II of his Petition

should be dismissed with prejudice.

3. Count II of plaintiff's Petition fails to identify sufficient facts to state a
claim upon which relief may be granted.

Count II of Lipari's Petition fails to allege sufficient facts to support a cause of action

under RS.Mo. § 416.031.2. He simply alleges conclusions for each necessary element and fails

to plead any facts to support his claim. Moreover, Lipari fails to plead sufficient facts to identify

a relevant market to support his antitrust claim. Therefore, Count II of Plaintiffs Petition should

be dismissed with prejudice.

a. Missouri law requires that petitions contain sufficient facts for
each element to show an entitlement to relief. Count II of
Lipari's Petition contains no allegations of fact, but only mere
conclusions. Therefore, Lipari has failed to allege sufficient
facts to maintain a cause of action under §416.031.2 and
Count II should be dismissed with prejudice.

The Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure require that a petition contain sufficient facts to

show the pleader is entitled to relief. See Mo. R Civ. P. 55.05. The plaintiff must allege facts

and not conclusions. Averments of mere conclusions will be disregarded in a court's analysis as

to whether the petition states a cause of action. See Brock v. Blackwood, 143 S.W.3d 47, 56

(Mo. App. W.D. 2004). Count II of Lipari's Petition is completely devoid of factual assertions.
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Lipari simply sets forth the legal elements for a cause of action under Section 416.031.2 and

makes a conclusory allegation that mirrors each element. For example, in order to maintain a

claim under § 416.031.2, Lipari must allege sufficient facts to show the willful acquisition or

maintenance of a monopoly power as distinguished from growth or development as a

consequence of a superior product, business acumen, or historic accident. See Medical Supply

Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, Inc., 419 F. Supp.2d at 1328. As to this element, Lipari states on

p.lOO:

(2) defendants willfully acquired and maintained their market power.

The petitioner hereby re-alleges the averments of facts in this complaint
and its attachments.

The petitioner avers the defendants have acted intentionally and willfully
to acquire and maintain their market power in the subject area markets.

a. The defendants did not enjoy market growth or
development as a consequence of

The petitioner avers the defendants did not enjoy market power growth or
development as a consequence of any of the following reasons:

i. a superior product

The petitioner avers the defendants did not enjoy market power growth or
development as a consequence of a superior product.

ii. business acumen

The petitioner avers the defendants did not enjoy market growth or
development as a consequence of business acumen.

iii. or historic accident

The petitioner avers the defendants did not market power growth or
development as a consequence of historic accident.

b. defendants' monopoly power was not obtained for

The petitioner avers the defendants' monopoly power was not obtained for
the following reasons:

14
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i. a valid business reason

The petitioner avers the defendants' monopoly power has not resulted or
been created out of a valid business reason.

ii. or concern for efficiency

The petitioner avers the defendants' monopoly power has not resulted or
been created out of a concern for efficiency.

Peti tion, pp. 100-10 1.

These allegations are wholly insufficient to allege a cause of action against STK under

§ 416.031.2. It is well established that even under the liberal notice pleading standards of federal

courts, a plaintiff must do more than cite relevant antitrust language to state a claim for relief.

Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, Inc., 419 F. Supp.2d 1316, 1327 (D. Kan. 2006);

TV Comm., Inc. v. Turner Network Television, Inc., 964 F.2d 1022, 1027 (lOth Cir. 1982); Estate

Constr. Co. v. Miller and Smith Holding Co., 14 F.3d 213, 221 (4th Cir. 1994); Nelson Radio

and Supply Co. v. Motorola, Inc., 200 F.2d 911, 913-914 (5th Cir. 1953); see also Bell Atlantic

Corp. v. Twombly, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1965 (2007). Moreover, in Missouri, allegations that contain

mere conclusions are insufficient and will be disregarded when considering whether a plaintiff

has properly pled a cause of action. See Brock v. Blackwood, 143 S.W.3d at 56. Therefore,

Count IIshould be dismissed with prejudice.

b. Lipari must identify a relevant market in order to state an
antitrust claim under § 416.031.2. "Hospital Supplies" does
not identify a product that is reasonably interchangeable and
has a cross-elasticity of demand. Therefore, Lipari has failed
to identify a relevant market and has failed to state a claim for
violation of § 416.031.2.

Even if Lipari's general conclusory allegations somehow meet the basic requirements of

Rule 55.05, these allegations are still insufficient to maintain an action under § 416.031.2

because it does not define the relevant market.
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In order to maintain a cause of action under § 416.031.2, it is Lipari's burden to properly

plead the boundaries of an alleged relevant market or markets. Adidas America, Inc. v. National

Collegiate Athletic Assn., 64 F. Supp.2d 1097, 1103 (D. Kan. 1999). The relevant market must

be defined by "the interchangeability of or the cross-elasticity of demand between the product in

question and substitutes for it." !d., quoting Brown Shoe Co. v. United States, 370 U.S. 294, 325,

82 S. Ct. 1502 (1962). Failure to define a relevant market with reference to the rule of

reasonable interchangeability and cross-elasticity of demand renders the Petition insufficient and

a motion to dismiss may be granted. See Adidas America, Inc. v. National Collegiate Athletic

Assn., 64 F. Supp.2d at 1102. Products belong in the same market when they are reasonably

interchangeable for the same uses and must exhibit a high cross-elasticity of demand. See

Community Publishers, Inc. v. Donrey Corp., 892 F. Supp. 1146, 1153 (W.D. Ark. 1995). As

stated by the Eighth Circuit, "defining a relevant market is primarily a process of describing

those groups of producers which, because of similarity of their products, have the ability-actual

or potential-to take significant amounts of business away from each other." General Indus.

Corp. v. Hartz Mountain Corp., 810 F.2d 795, 805 (8th Cir. 1987). Products have a high cross-

elasticity if consumers will shift from one to the other in response to changes in the relative

costs. Community Publishers, Inc. v. Donray Corp., 892 F. Supp. at 1153 n.7.

Plaintiff has failed to properly define a relevant market to support his antitrust claim. In

fact, plaintiff has failed to identify any specific product. The entirety of plaintiff's claim refers to

"hospital supplies." Plaintiff fails to identify any specific product which would constitute

"hospital supplies" or how the "hospital supplies" he seeks to sell would be interchangeable and

subject to a high cross-elasticity with the "hospital supplies" alleged to be sold by the defendants.

Lipari's failure to identify a single product- much less a reasonably interchangeable one - makes

16
2309375.03



it impossible for him to identify a proper relevant market for his antitrust claims. Accordingly,

Count II of his Petition should be dismissed with prejudice.

D. Count III-Conspiracy to violate § 416.031(2) (p. 103)

In Count III, plaintiff attempts to allege a violation of § 416.031.2 by contending the

defendants have conspired to create a monopoly. But plaintiffs allegations in Count III fail to

allege any facts, much less sufficient facts to support a cause of action. Plaintiff simply sets

forth the elements for conspiracy and states under each element "The Petitioner hereby re-alleges

the averments of facts in this Complaint and its attachments." While Rule 55.12 allows Lipari to

adopt by reference other parts of his Petition, a reference must be sufficiently clear and explicit

to advise defendants of the issue tendered for trial. See Hester v. Barnett, 723 S.W.2d 544,561

(Mo. App. W.D. 1987). Lipari's adoption by reference encompasses 102 pages of issues ranging

from disbarment of plaintiffs former counsel to an individual named Judy Jewsome not being

allowed to sit for the Kansas Bar to Karl Rove's involvement in the alleged hospital supply

conspiracy. By incorporating all of his prior allegations, the plaintiff has not concisely set forth

the issue to be tendered for trial, and his incorporation by reference is therefore improper.

Additionally, a cause of action for conspiracy to commit antitrust violations under

§ 416.031.2 is subject to a four-year statute oflimitations. As set forth in Sections 2(a) and 2(b)

above, plaintiffs state antitrust claims are barred by the statute of limitations. Rather than

restating those arguments again here, defendant incorporates by reference those arguments made

in Sections 2(a) and 2(b) above.

For these reasons, Count III should be dismissed with prejudice.

E. Count IV-Tortious interference with business relations (p. 103)

In Count IV of his Petition, plaintiff alleges that STK interfered with Medical Supply

Chain's individual representative candidate trust accounts with U.S. Bank and a real estate
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transaction between Medical Supply Chain and General Electric Transportation Company. See

Petition, p. 103. Plaintiffs claims fail because:

a. Plaintiff has failed to allege sufficient facts to support a cause of
action; and

b. Plaintiff's claims relating to the escrow accounts are barred by the
statute of limitations.

Therefore, the Court should dismiss Count IV of plaintiff s Petition with prejudice.

1. The Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure require plaintiff to plead
sufficient facts for each element of his claim. Plaintiff simply makes
conclusory allegations that purport to satisfy each element. Because
the plaintiff has failed to plead any facts to support his cause of
action, his claim must be dismissed.

As repeatedly set forth above, the Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure require that a

petition set forth facts which demonstrate the pleader is entitled to relief. See Rule 55.05; Brock

v. Blackwood, 143 S.W.3d 47,56 (Mo. App. W.D. 2004). Conclusory allegations not supported

by facts will be disregarded in determining whether a petition sets forth sufficient facts to

maintain a cause of action. See id. citing Lick Creek Sewer System v. Bank of Bourbon, 747

S.W.2d 317,322 (Mo. App. 1988).

In order to maintain a cause of action for tortious interference with contract or business

expectancy, Lipari must allege facts to show (1) a contract or valid business expectancy;

(2) defendant's knowledge of the contract or relationship; (3) a breach induced or caused by

defendant's intentional interference; (4) absence of justification; and (5) damages. Nazeri v.

Missouri Valley College, 860 S.W.2d 303,316 (Mo. 1993). While Lipari identifies the contract

or business expectancy as the supposed escrow agreement with U.S. Bank and the real estate

contract with G.E., he fails to specifically allege any facts as to STK's knowledge or supposed

involvement in the remainder of the elements for this cause of action. Rather, he simply sets

forth the legal elements and mirrors the elements with a conclusory allegation that purportedly
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satisfies the claim. His allegations violate Rule 55.05 of the Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure

and his conclusory allegations are disregarded when determining whether he has properly stated

a cause of action. See Brock v. Blackwood, 143 S.W.3d at 56.

For this reason, Count IV of Lipari's petition should be dismissed with prejudice.

2. Claims for tortious interference with business expectancy must be
brought within five years of the date the cause of action accrues.
Plaintiff's alleged cause of action as to the escrow accounts accrued in
2002 and he did not me this claim until February 2008. Therefore, his
claim for tortious interference with business expectancy as to the
escrow accounts is barred by the statute of limitations.

A claim for tortious interference with contract or business expectancy must be brought

within five years of the action's accrual. RS.Mo. § 516.120(4); D'Arcy and Associates, Inc. v.

K.P.MG. Peat Marwick, LLP., 129 S.W.3d 25,29 (Mo. App. W.D. 2004). A cause of action

accrues when the plaintiff knows or should know of the wrong and can ascertain damage. !d.

Lipari alleges STK tortiously interfered with an escrow agreement between U.S. Bank

and Medical Supply in 2002, purportedly at the time STK was engaged to defend U.S. Bank

(which had allegedly already breached the escrow agreement). Petition, p. 103. The Petition

also demonstrates that Medical Supply had actual knowledge of its alleged damages from the

putative escrow transaction in October 2002, when it filed the first of many lawsuits related to

the transactions. See Petition, Appendix 1, p. 1. Because Lipari did not file this suit until

February 2008, his claim for tortious interference, as it relates to the supposed escrow

transaction, is beyond the five-year statute and is therefore time barred.

F. Count V-Fraud

Plaintiff s claim for fraud must be dismissed as he fails to allege any facts which meet the

particularity pleading requirement of Rule 55.15 of the Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure.
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The elements of fraudulent misrepresentation are: (1) a false, material representation;

(2) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity or his ignorance of its truth; (3) the speaker's intent that

it should be acted upon by the hearer in the manner reasonably contemplated; (4) the hearer's

ignorance ofthe falsity of the statement; (5) the hearer's reliance on its truth, and the right to rely

thereon; and (6) proximate injury. Premium Financing Specialists, Inc. v. Hullin, 90 S.W.3d

110, 115 (Mo. App. W.D. 2002). There must be more than mere suspicion, surmise and

speculation. Blanke v. Hendrickson, 944 S.W.2d 943, 944 (Mo. Ct. App. 1997). Moreover,

Rule 55.15 requires that all allegations of fraud be pled with particularity. As stated in Citizens

Bank of Appleton City v. Schapeler, 869 S.W.2d 120, 126 (Mo. App. W.D. 1993):

Every essential element of fraud must be plead, and failure to plead any element
renders the claim defective and subject to dismissal. (Citations omitted.) All
averments of fraud, except malice, intent, knowledge and any other condition of
the mind, are to be stated with particularity. (Citations omitted.) In other words,
the fraud must clearly appear from the allegations of fact, and be independent of
conclusions. (Citations omitted.)

Lipari's Petition alleges no facts to support his fraud claim. For his allegations regarding a false

representation, Lipari re-alleges his prior averments and states, "Defendants were engaged in

concealed fraudulent conduct." Petition, p. 105. This allegation is devoid of any fact, much less

facts with such particularity "to be independent of conclusions." !d. Lipari's allegations as to

the other elements of fraud are equally cryptic. His allegations fail to meet the basic pleading

requirements of Rule 55.05, much less the heightened requirements of Rule 55.15. Neither the

parties nor the Court should be forced to scour the Petition in an effort at guesswork as to what

plaintiff believes constitutes the substance of his claims. Because Lipari has failed to allege

sufficient facts to support his fraud claim, Count V should be dismissed with prejudice.

20
2309375.03



G. Count VI-Prima Facie Tort

On p. 106 of his Petition, Lipari asserts a cause of action for prima facie tort. In order to

maintain such a claim, Lipari must allege facts to show: (1) an intentional lawful act by

defendant; (2) defendant's intent to injure the plaintiff; (3) injury to the plaintiff; and (4) an

absence of or insufficient justification for defendant's act. Nazeri v. Missouri Valley College,

860 S.W.2d 303, 315 (Mo. 1993); Rice v. Hodapp, 919 S.W.2d 240 (Mo. 1996) (en bane),

Prima facie tort is not a catchall cause of action or a duplicative remedy. Like any tort, it has

specialized elements which must be met to maintain the cause of action. Nazeri, 860 S.W.2d at

315.

Lipari's claim for prima facie tort should be dismissed because he has failed to plead an

intentional lawful act by the defendant. Rather, Lipari alleges:

To whatever extent said activities of Defendants including procuring the
disbarment and interference with the petitioner's potential may not violate
antitrust laws or tortuously (sic) interfere with contract or business expectancy,
said acts and activities of Defendants are still unlawful and fraudulent.

Petition, p. I07 (emphasis added).

Plaintiff s allegations specifically state that defendants' alleged misconduct was

"unlawful and fraudulent." But a claim for prima facie tort is based on a lawful act by the

defendant. Therefore, Lipari has failed to plead an essential element of prima facie tort. Nazeri,

860 S.W.2d at 315 (holding that allegations that a defendant's statements were "untrue" failed to

state a claim for prima facie tort).

Additionally, Lipari's allegations again fall short of the factual pleading requirements

found in Rule 55.05 of the Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure. For his prima facie tort claim,

Lipari simply sets forth each element and makes a conclusory allegation that purports to satisfy
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the element. These conclusory allegations are insufficient and should be disregarded. Brock v.

Blackwood, 143 S.W.3d 47,56 (Mo. App. w.n 2004).

Lipari has failed to allege sufficient facts to support his claim for prima facie tort. The

Court should therefore dismiss Count VI of his Petition with prejudice.

III. INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

Defendant STK incorporates by reference the arguments, authorities, motions and

suggestions of all defendants.

IV. CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for the above stated reasons, defendant Shughart, Thomson & Kilroy

requests the Court dismiss plaintiffs Petition with prejudice and grant all other relief to which

the defendant is entitled.

Respectfully submitted,

~ kL·w'ILLiltE. QUIRK MO #24740
ANTHONY W. BONUCHI MO #57838
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C.
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza
120 W. 12th Street
Kansas City, Missouri 64105
(816) 421-3355
(816) 374-0509 (FAX)
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